FILED

# MAR 27 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By\_\_\_\_\_

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

in

NO. 311767

## ANTHONY PREDISIK and CHRISTOPHER KATKE

Appellants

v.

## SPOKANE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 81

Respondent

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Tyler M. Hinckley, WSBA 37143 Attorney for Appellants Montoya Hinckley PLLC 4702 A Tieton Drive Yakima, WA 98908

FILED

# MAR 27 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By\_\_\_\_\_

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

in

NO. 311767

## ANTHONY PREDISIK and CHRISTOPHER KATKE

Appellants

v.

## SPOKANE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 81

Respondent

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

### I. INTRODUCTION

١.

Anthony Predisik is a counselor and Christopher Katke is a teacher in the Spokane School District (District). The District placed Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke on administrative leave pending investigations into highly offensive unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct. The District is still investigating the allegations against Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke, neither of whom the District has disciplined for any misconduct.

After the District placed Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke on administrative leave, it received public records requests from The Spokesman-Review (The Spokesman) and KREM 2 Television (KREM 2). The Spokesman sought Mr. Predisik's administrative leave letter, and KREM 2 sought general information related to all District employees on administrative leave. The District informed Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke that it intended to disclose documents in response to the requests that mentioned their names. Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke filed lawsuits to enjoin disclosure.

The records the District intends to disclose concerning Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke are exempt from disclosure under the "personal information" exemption in RCW 42.56.230(3) and under the "investigative records" exemption in RCW 42.56.240(1). The trial court properly determined that the requested records are "personal information"

for purposes of RCW 42.56.230(3). Because the District is conducting formal investigations into Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke, the District is an "investigative agency" as that term is used in RCW 42.56.240(1).

Both exemptions claimed by the Appellants turn on whether disclosing the requested records would violate Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's right to privacy. The trial court properly determined that Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke had a right to privacy in their identities in connection with the unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct against them. Because their investigations are still pending and because Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke have statutory and contractual rights to appeal any adverse decision by the District related to the allegations, disclosing the records in any form will violate the Appellants' rights to privacy.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

### Assignments of Error

 The trial court erred by determining that Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's respective rights to privacy were adequately preserved by redacting their names from the requested records.

2. The trial court erred in ruling that disclosure of the requested records, with or without Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's names redacted, would not be highly offensive to a reasonable person.

3. To the extent that the trial court ruled that disclosure of a record cannot be highly offensive under RCW 42.56.050 unless the clear and express language in a record implicates sexual misconduct, the trial court erred.

۱.

 The trial court erred in determining that all of the records the District intends to disclose do not imply sexual misconduct.

5. The trial court erred in ruling that the public has a legitimate concern in information related to the District's investigations into the allegations against Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke.

6. The trial court erred in ruling that the requested records are not entirely exempt from disclosure under RCW 42.56.230(3).

7. The trial court erred by determining that the District is not an investigative agency, under RCW 42.56.240(1) when formally investigating allegations of misconduct against two of its teachers.

8. The trial court erred to the extent it determined that the requested records were not specific investigative records compiled or created by the District during the course of investigations focused upon Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke.

9. The trial court erred in ruling that the requested records are not entirely exempt from disclosure under RCW 42.56.240(1).

### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

۱.

1. Do the Appellants have a right to privacy in their identities and in the requested records the District created as a result of the unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct against them?

2. Would a reasonable person be highly offended by the disclosure of records concerning highly offensive unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct against them when the District is still investigating the allegations of misconduct and has not determined whether any evidence supports them?

3. Does redacting the Appellants' names from requested records render disclosure any less offensive when the District has not completed its investigation into the allegations against the Appellants and the Appellants have statutory and contractual rights to appeal any adverse District decision?

4. Does the public have a legitimate concern in records concerning highly offensive unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct against the Appellants when the District is still investigating the allegations and the Appellants have statutory and contractual rights to appeal any adverse District decision? 5. Are the requested records "personal information" that is "maintained in files for employees" under RCW 42.56.230(3) when the records concern the Appellants and are in the District's possession?

6. Are the requested records "specific investigative records" and is the District an "investigative agency" when the District created and compiled the records during a specific investigation focusing with special intensity on a particular person?

7. Does redacting Mr. Predisik's name from his administrative leave letter protect his right to privacy or render disclosure any less highly offensive when the fact of disclosure alone would identify Mr. Predisik?

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

۱.

### A. Facts related to Anthony Predisik.

Anthony Predisik has been a counselor at Shadle Park High School in the Spokane School District for over twenty-two years, without discipline. (CP 10-11). On November 18, 2011 the Spokane School District placed Mr. Predisik on administrative leave pending an investigation into allegations of misconduct that Mr. Predisik vehemently denies. (CP 12).

On March 23, 2012, Jody Lawrence-Turner, a reporter for The Spokesman, requested a copy of Mr. Predisik's administrative from the District. (CP 47). The District informed Mr. Predisik it intended to disclose the letter in response to Ms. Lawrence-Turner's request. (CP 36). Accordingly, Mr. Predisik filed a lawsuit seeking to enjoin disclosure of the requested document. (CP 4-6, 36).

۰.

On May 8, 2012, the District informed Mr. Predisik that it received a records request from Ashley Korslien, a reporter for KREM 2, and informed Mr. Predisik that Ms. Korslien requested:

Information on all district employees on paid administrative leave, how many people there are, who they are, what reason they are on leave, how long they have been on leave, if they are being paid and the disposition. For those currently on administrative leave, she is seeking the reason for the leave if it is related to alleged misconduct. She is not seeking the reason for the leave in any of the other administrative leave instances. She is requesting the aforementioned records from November 2011 until April 19, 2012.

(CP 281-82, 325). When the District told Mr. Predisik that documents that mention his name are within the purview of Ms. Korslien's request, he filed another lawsuit seeking to enjoin disclosure of the requested documents. (CP 152-57).

### B. Facts related to Christopher Katke.

Christopher Katke is a certificated teacher at Glover Middle School, which is in the District. (CP 279). He has taught for approximately ten years, and has never been disciplined in his teaching career. (CP 279-80). The District placed Mr. Katke on paid administrative leave on January 11, 2012, pending an investigation into allegations of misconduct that allegedly occurred when Mr. Katke was a teenager. (CP 280). Mr. Katke vehemently denies the allegations. (CP 280).

On May 8, 2012, the District informed Mr. Katke that Ms. Korslien, of KREM 2, had requested:

Information on all district employees on paid administrative leave, how many people there are, who they are, what reason they are on leave, how long they have been on leave, if they are being paid and the disposition. For those currently on administrative leave, she is seeking the reason for the leave if it is related to alleged misconduct. She is not seeking the reason for the leave in any of the other administrative leave instances. She is requesting the aforementioned records from November 2011 until April 19, 2012.

(CP 281-82). The District informed Mr. Katke that Ms. Korslien's request included documents that mentioned Mr. Katke. (CP 282).

On May 9, 2012, Jody Lawrence-Turner, of The Spokesman, requested from the Spokane School District "any documents related to the investigation [into the allegations against Christopher Katke], his resignation and/or any determination on the investigation." (Predisik CP 282). The District informed Mr. Katke of Ms. Lawrence-Turner's request on June 5, 2012.<sup>1</sup> (CP 282).

In response to KREM 2's and The Spokesman's requests and the Spokane School District's stated intent to disclose documents, Mr. Katke filed a lawsuit seeking to enjoin disclosure of the requested documents. (CP 162-66).

#### C. Facts related to the requested records.

The District has identified three documents that it intends to disclose in response to The Spokesman's and KREM 2's records requests. (CP 401; Exhibits 1-3). Exhibit 1 is an administrative leave letter concerning Mr. Predisik. (CP 401; Exhibit 1). Exhibits 2 and 3 are spreadsheets that the District created in response to KREM 2's request. (CP 401; Exhibits 2-3).

### D. Procedural facts.

The trial court consolidated Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's cases. (CP 277-78, 398-99). Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke filed a motion for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Counsel for Mr. Katke informed the District's attorneys that Mr. Katke would seek an injunction if the District intended to disclose any documents in response to Ms. Lawrence-Turner's request. Accordingly, the District has not released records responsive to Ms. Lawrence-Turner's May 9, 2012 request. Although Cowles Publishing Company is not participating in this lawsuit, it has expressly refused to withdraw Ms. Lawrence-Turner's May 9, 2012 request. The District has not produced any records responsive to Ms. Lawrence-Turner's request to counsel for Mr. Katke. (CP 289). The records responsive to Ms. Lawrence-Turner's May 9, 2012 request were not part of the record before the trial court in this matter. (See CP 400-01).

summary judgment seeking an order requiring the District to withhold the requested records from disclosure. (CP 292-338; 339-41; 388-397).

During the summary judgment hearing, the trial court reviewed the requested records *in camera*. (CP 400; Exhibits 1-3). The trial court denied Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke's summary judgment motion and ordered the District to disclose the requested records with Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's names redacted. (CP 402). In reaching its decision, the court ruled that Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke had a right to privacy in their respective identities in connection with the allegations against them. (CP 401). The court also determined, however, that the public had a legitimate concern "in the procedural steps being taken by the School District in its investigations into the allegations against [them]." (CP 401). Accordingly, the court required the District to redact Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's names from the documents to preserve their right to privacy. (CP 401-02). Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke timely appealed. (CP 406).

The District has not disclosed the requested documents regarding Mr. Predisik or Mr. Katke. (CP 400-02). The District has been investigating the allegations against Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke for approximately 16 and 14 months, respectively. (CP 12, 280). The District has not determined whether the allegations are meritorious, and has not imposed any discipline against either teacher. (CP 10-12, 279-84, 401).

#### IV. ARGUMENT

١.

#### A. Standard of Review

This court reviews decisions under the Public Records Act (PRA) de novo. RCW 42.56.550(3); *Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405*, 164 Wn.2d 199, 208, 189 P.3d 139 (2008). This court also reviews statutory construction issues de novo. *Bellevue John Does*, 164 Wn.2d at 209.

RCW 42.56.540 authorizes this court to enjoin "the examination of any specific public record" if it finds "that such examination would clearly not be in the public interest and would substantially and irreparably damage any person. . . ." As the parties seeking to enjoin production, Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke bear the burden to show that an exemption or statute prohibits production in whole or in part. *Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City of Puyallup*, 172 Wn.2d 398, 407-08, 259 P.3d 190 (2011).

B. Disclosing the requested records will violate Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's respective rights to privacy.<sup>2</sup>

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke claim that the requested records are exempt from disclosure under RCW 42.56.230(3) and RCW 42.56.240(1). Because both exemptions require the court to analyze whether disclosure would violate Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's right to privacy, the Appellants address the right to privacy issues first. The other elements of their claimed exemptions are addressed below.

The District will violate Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's right to privacy if it discloses the requested records because disclosure, even with their names redacted, would be highly offensive to a reasonable person and because the public does not have a legitimate interest in the requested records. Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke seek to enjoin disclosure of the records under the exemptions contained in RCW 42.56.230(3) and RCW 42.56.240(1). RCW 42.56.230(3) exempts from disclosure "[p]ersonal information in files maintained for employees . . . of any public agency to the extent that disclosure would violate their right to privacy[.]" And RCW 42.56.240(1) exempts from public inspection and copying "specific investigative records compiled by investigative . . . agencies . . . the nondisclosure of which is essential to . . . protection of any person's right to privacy[.]"

٩.

Thus, Mr. Predisik's and Mr. Katke's claimed exemptions each turn on whether disclosure would violate their right to privacy. *See Bainbridge*, 172 Wn.2d at 426 (Madsen, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (when exemptions are claimed under RCW 42.56.230(3) and RCW 42.56.240(1), the exemptions turn on the right to privacy). In determining whether disclosure would violate a person's right to privacy, this court must first determine whether a right to privacy exists. *See Bellevue John Does*, 164 Wn.2d at 210. 1. Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke have a right to privacy in their identities and the requested records because unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct are not actions Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke took in the course of performing their public duties.

The trial court properly recognized that "[Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke] have a right to privacy in their identity." (CP 401). They also have a right to privacy in the requested records because the records were created as a result of unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct, which are matters concerning their private lives. *See Bellevue John Does*, 164 Wn.2d at 216 ("[t]eachers have a right to privacy in their identities because the unsubstantiated or false allegations are matters concerning the teachers' private lives and are not specific incidents of misconduct curing the course of employment.").

The PRA does not explicitly identify when a person who is the subject of a public records request has a right to privacy in his identity or in records concerning him. *See Bellevue John Does*, 164 Wn.2d at 212. The PRA merely sets forth the test for determining when the right to privacy is violated. RCW 42.56.050. In enacting RCW 42.56.050's precursor, former RCW 42.17.255 (1987), "the legislature stated that the term "privacy" "is intended to have the same meaning as the definition

given that word by the Supreme Court in '*Hearst v. Hoppe*.'"<sup>3</sup> *Bellevue John Does*, 164 Wn.2d at 212 (quoting Laws of 1987, ch. 403, § 1). In *Bellevue John Does*, the Supreme Court held that "[a] person has a right to privacy in 'matter[s] concerning the private life.'" *Bellevue John Does*, 164 Wn.2d at 212 (quoting *Hearst*, 90 Wn.2d at 135). In describing the nature of facts that could be considered matters concerning the private life, the *Bellevue John Does* quoted the Restatement (Second) of Torts:

Every individual has some phases of his life and his activities and some facts about himself that he does not expose to the public eye, but keeps entirely to himself or at most reveals only to his family or to close personal friends. Sexual relations, for example, are normally entirely private matters, as are family quarrels, many unpleasant or disgraceful or humiliating illnesses, most intimate personal letters, most details of a man's life in his home, and some of his past history that he would rather forget....

Bellevue John Does, 164 Wn.2d at 212-13 (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS §652D (1977)).

In *Bellevue John Does*, the court held that a teacher has a right to privacy related to unsubstantiated or false allegations of sexual misconduct against him because those allegations are matters concerning the teacher's private life, and are not specific incidents of misconduct during the course of his employment. *Bellevue John Does* 164 Wn.2d at 215-16. In that case, the Seattle Times filed a public disclosure request

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 580 P.2d 246 (1978).

with the Bellevue, Seattle, and Federal Way school districts seeking "copies of all records relating to allegations of teacher sexual misconduct in the last 10 years." Bellevue John Does, 164 Wn.2d at 206. The school districts notified 55 current and former teachers that their records were responsive to the request. Bellevue John Does, 164 Wn.2d at 206. 37 of the teachers filed lawsuits to enjoin the school districts from disclosing their records. Bellevue John Does, 164 Wn.2d at 206. The trial court determined that the identities of 15 teachers were exempt from disclosure because the allegations of misconduct against them were unsubstantiated. Bellevue John Does, 164 Wn.2d at 206-07. The Seattle Times appealed, seeking identifying information of those 15 teachers. Bellevue John Does, 164 Wn.2d at 207. The court of appeals held that 12 of the 15 teachers' identifying information should be disclosed because it determined that if an allegation was unsubstantiated or did not warrant discipline, the teacher's identity must be disclosed. Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405, 129 Wn. App. 832, 838, 120 P.3d 616 (2005). Because it determined that the allegations against three of the teachers were "patently false", it affirmed nondisclosure of those three teachers' identities. Bellevue John Does, 129 Wn. App. at 854-55. The other 12 teachers appealed. Bellevue John Does, 164 Wn.2d at 207.

The Supreme Court reversed the court of appeals, holding that where a teacher is the subject of an unsubstantiated allegation of misconduct, "teachers have a right to privacy in their identities because the unsubstantiated or false allegations are matters concerning the teachers' private lives and are not specific incidents of misconduct during the course of employment." *Bellevue John Does*, 164 Wn.2d at 215-16. Specifically, the court held that a teacher has a right to privacy in unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct because "[a]n unsubstantiated or false accusation of sexual misconduct is not an action taken by an employee in the course of performing public duties. . . ." *Bellevue John Does*, 164 Wn.2d at 215. With respect to allegations of sexual misconduct with students, the court noted that:

The fact of the allegation, not the underlying conduct, does not bear on the teacher's performance or activities as a public servant. The mere fact of the allegation of sexual misconduct toward a minor may hold the teacher up to hatred and ridicule in the community, without any evidence that such misconduct ever occurred. The fact that a teacher is accused of sexual misconduct is a "matter concerning the private life" within the *Hearst* definition of the scope of the right to privacy.

Bellevue John Does, 164 Wn.2d at 215 (citing Hearst, 90 Wn.2d at 135).

The court also held that teachers who were subjects of unsubstantiated allegations of sexual misconduct had a right to privacy in letters of direction in their personnel files. *Bellevue John Does*, 164 Wn.2d at 223.

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