APR 2 5 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON Be

No. 311767

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

ANTHONY PREDISIK and CHRISTOPHER KATKE,

Appellants,

VS.

SPOKANE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 81,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT'S RESPONSE BRIEF

PAUL E. CLAY, WSBA No. 17106 BRIAN E. KISTLER, WSBA No. 36811 STEVENS CLAY MANIX, P.S. 421 W. Riverside, Suite 1575 Spokane, WA 99201 Tel: (509) 838-8330

Tel: (509) 838-8330 Fax: (509) 623-2131

E-Mail: pclay@stevensclay.org

Attorneys for Respondent Spokane School District



APR 2 5 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON Be

No. 311767

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews the Trial Court decision de novo. RCW 42.56.550(3); *Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405*, 164 Wn.2d 199, 208, 189 P.3d 139 (2008). Appellants argue that the three records at issue are exempt under two separate statutes: (1) RCW 42.56.230(3); and (2) RCW 42.56.240(1). A party seeking to enjoin production of documents under the Public Records Act ("PRA") bears the burden of proving that an exemption or statute prohibits production in

whole or in part. Spokane Police Guild v. Liquor Control Bd., 112 Wn.2d 30, 35, 769 P.2d 283 (1989).

The School District determined that the records are not exempt under RCW 42.56.230(3) because: (1) disclosure of the records would not be highly offensive to a reasonable person and (2) the records are of legitimate public interest. The School District determined that the records are not exempt under RCW 42.56.240(1) for the same reasons as above and because the School District is not an investigative agency.

B. RCW 42.56.540 Is Not A Basis for Enjoining Records.

It is difficult to ascertain whether Appellants claim that RCW 42.56.540 provides an independent, stand-alone basis for enjoining records. On page 10 of Appellants' Brief to this Court, Appellants seem to assert so, but without elaboration. Such a claim might have been understandable several years ago, given that the Washington Supreme Court appears to have made just such a mistake itself. More particularly, in *Dawson v. Daly*, 120 Wn.2d 782, 794, 845 P.2d 995 (1993), the Supreme Court held that this statute "does create an independent basis upon which a *court* may find that disclosure is not required."

In *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. University of Washington*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 884 P.2d 592 (1994), ("PAWS"), however, the Washington Supreme Court subsequently recognized the apparent error of

the above dicta in *Dawson*. The Supreme Court in *PAWS* clarified that this statute does not provide an independent basis for exempting records:

In sum, the Public Records Act contains only limited and specific exemptions. Treating section .330 as an exemption, that is, as a method of withholding otherwise disclosable public records, is the exact functional equivalent of the error underlying Rosier. It also contradicts the Legislature's command to construe the exemptions narrowly and would render portions of the Act superfluous. We conclude that RCW 42.17.330 does not require withholding the proposals unfunded in their grant entirety.FN7

FN7. We decline to endorse our dicta in Dawson v. Daly, 120 Wn.2d 782, 845 P.2d 995 (1993) that section .330 creates an independent source of exemptions. Dawson, at 793-94, 845 P.2d 995. ... [A]ny implication that section .330 creates an independent exemption for vital governmental interests is directly at odds Legislature's thrice-repeated the demand that exemptions be narrowly construed....

Id. at 260-61 (emphasis added).

In 2011, the Supreme Court reinforced this holding in *Yakima County v. Yakima Herald-Republic*, 170 Wn.2d 775, 807, 246 P.3d 768 (2011): "We agree with the *Herald-Republic* that RCW 42.56.540 does not constitute a substantive basis for a remedy. *Progressive Animal*

Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 257-58, 884 P.2d 592 (1995) (PAWS)."

C. There Is No General "Privacy" Exemption.

What is not difficult to ascertain is Appellants' argument that releasing the three records at issue would violate their respective rights to privacy. Importantly, however, there is no general "privacy" exemption under Washington public records law. WAC 44-14-06002(2) (internal citations omitted).

Instead, "privacy" is just one element incorporated with other elements of specific exemptions that an agency or third party resisting disclosure must prove. *Id.* Again, the two exemptions on which Appellants rely are set forth in RCW 42.56.230(3) and RCW 42.56.240(1).

D. Disclosure of the Records Would Not Violate Appellants' Right to Privacy.

As Appellants state in footnote 2 of their Brief to this Court, both exemptions on which they rely require this Court to analyze whether disclosure would violate Appellant's right to privacy. As with Appellants, then, the School District first addresses the privacy issues.

As a threshold matter, the School District agrees with Appellants that the records at issue here contain "personal information" under RCW 42.56.230(3) in that the records contain "information relating to or affecting"

Appellants. *Bellevue*, 164 Wn.2d at 211. The Washington Supreme Court recognizes, however, that: "Personal information is exempt from production only when that production violates an employee's right to privacy." *Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City of Puyallup*, 172 Wn.2d 398, 412, 259 P.3d 190 (2011).

The seminal Washington Supreme Court opinion giving meaning to the "right to privacy" in the context of employee files is *Dawson v. Daly*, 120 Wn.2d 782, 845 P.2d 995 (1993). In *Dawson*, the Supreme Court stated that an employee's right to privacy is violated only if disclosure: (1) would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and (2) is not of legitimate concern to the public. *Id.* at 795. The Supreme Court relied upon a separate statute, RCW 42.17.255 [now codified at RCW 42.56.050], for this conclusion:

A person's "right to privacy," "right of privacy," 'privacy," or "personal privacy," as these terms are used in this chapter, is invaded or violated only if disclosure of information about the person: (1) Would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and (2) is not of legitimate concern to the public.

Id. at 795; RCW 42.56.050. Dawson makes clear that Appellants must establish disclosure of the three records at issue here would be highly offensive to a reasonable person and that those three records are not of legitimate concern to the public.

Disclosure of the records would not be "highly offensive" to a reasonable person.

In *Dawson*, the Supreme Court elaborated on the first prong of this test and explained generally what the "right to privacy" means:

Speaking generally about the right of privacy, we have stated that the right of privacy applies "only to the intimate details of one's personal and private life", which we contrasted to actions taking place in public that were observed by 40 other people. Spokane Police Guild v. Liquor Control Bd., 112 Wn.2d 30, 38, 769 P.2d 283 (1989). The Court of Appeals has explained that the employee privacy definition protects personal information that the employee would not normally share with strangers. Cowles Pub'g Co., at 890-91.

Id. at 796 (emphasis added). In explaining what the right to privacy means, the *Dawson* court noted that a showing of "mere embarrassment" is not sufficient to prove that disclosure is highly offensive to a reasonable person. *Id.* at 797.

Under *Dawson*, it appears the Supreme Court instructs lower courts to contrast whether the record at issue is one dealing with intimate details or one dealing with something observed by numerous others. Applying that rationale to the case at hand, it did not appear to the School District that the administrative leave letter identified intimate details of Appellants' life. Moreover, the fact that Appellants were placed on administrative leave

pending completion of an investigation is a fact of which numerous other teachers in his school would be aware, as soon as it occurs. The spreadsheets – one concerning Mr. Predisik, and the other concerning Mr. Katke – are even more innocuous than the administrative leave letter and certainly do not identify intimate details of either employee's lives. Like the administrative leave letter, the information contained in the spreadsheets that Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke are on administrative leave pending completion of an investigation does not identify intimate details and is a fact of which numerous other teachers would be aware.

Appellants rely upon *Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue School Dist.*, 164 Wn.2d 199, 189 P.3d 139 (2008) for the proposition that the three records would be highly offensive if disclosed. In that case, the Court addressed certain letters of direction issued by a school district employer to teachers. The records at issue in *Bellevue John Does* contained "criticisms and observations" of the teachers that related to their "competence". The letters did not "mention any substantiated misconduct" by the teachers but the letters of direction did "discuss specific alleged misconduct" against the teachers. *Id.* at 211, 224. The type of alleged misconduct was "sexual misconduct against students." *Id.* at 205. Again, the allegations of sexual misconduct discussed in the letters were deemed "unsubstantiated" by the employer. *Id.* at 215.

The *Bellevue* Court held that, because the letters of direction did not identify "substantiated misconduct" and the teachers were not otherwise disciplined or subjected to any restriction, disclosure of the letters (with the employees' names) would be highly offensive.

Id. The *Bellevue* Court held that records which disclose unsubstantiated allegations of sexual misconduct by a teacher toward a student is a "matter concerning the private life" of the teacher and thus within the meaning of "the right to privacy."

Id. at 215 (emphasis added). According to the court "[t]he mere fact of the allegation of sexual misconduct toward a minor may hold the teacher up to hatred and ridicule in the community, without any evidence that such misconduct ever occurred."

Id. (emphasis added).

Given the above, *Bellevue* seems to stand for the proposition that disclosure of records, which contain <u>descriptions</u> of unsubstantiated allegations of <u>sexual misconduct by teachers against students</u>, would be highly offensive to a reasonable person. At issue here is whether *Bellevue* is to be read more broadly. Appellants argue it should. The broader reading advocated by Appellants is that disclosure of records, which refer to (but do not describe) unsubstantiated allegations (of any nature), would be highly offensive to a reasonable person.

¹ As discussed later, the *Bellevue* Court held that redaction of the employees' identities transformed the documents from "highly offensive" to "not highly offensive." *Id.* at 224.

The School District determined that *Bellevue* should not be read as broadly as Appellants advocate, in part because of a subsequent opinion from the Washington Supreme Court, *Morgan v. City of Federal Way*, 166 Wn.2d 747, 213 P.3d 596 (2009). *Morgan* followed and applied the *Bellevue* case. *Morgan* provides lower courts and agencies with instruction on how the Supreme Court would apply the reasoning of the *Bellevue* case. In *Morgan*, the Supreme Court applied its reasoning from *Bellevue* to a public records request for written investigative records. The report at issue in *Morgan* pertained to a municipal court employee's hostile work environment complaint against Municipal Court Judge Michael Morgan.

The Washington Supreme Court upheld the City's decision to release a preliminary investigative record, in part because the allegations at hand were not highly offensive:

Judge Morgan claims that the report violates his right to privacy because it contains **unsubstantiated** allegations of 'inappropriate behavior,' which he contends are highly offensive. However, the allegations – including angry outbursts, inappropriate gender-based and sexual comments, and demeaning colleagues and employees – are nowhere near as offensive as allegations of sexual misconduct with a minor and do not rise to the level of 'highly offensive.'

Id. at 756 (emphasis added). *Morgan* thus seems to support the more narrow reading of *Bellevue* that the School District applied here. That is, *Morgan*

seems to stand for the proposition that not all records disclosing "unsubstantiated allegations" of misconduct will be "highly offensive."

Applying the *Bellevue* and *Morgan* cases to the facts here, again, the Court will see upon *in camera* review of the administrative leave letter and the spreadsheets at issue that none of those records disclose or reveal any allegations of sexual misconduct by any teacher toward any student, let alone by Appellants. Moreover, as mentioned above, neither the letter nor the spreadsheets disclose any intimate details of Appellants' personal and private life. The records merely identify that Appellants have been placed on administrative leave pending completion of an investigation into unspecified allegations – using a descriptor that is broad and vague. Nowhere do the records say or imply anything about an investigation into allegations of sexual misconduct with a minor, any more than the records state or imply it is an investigation into allegations of verbal or non-verbal misconduct with a minor. Thus, applying *Bellevue* and especially *Morgan* to the case at hand, it would appear the three records here should be produced in their entirety.

Despite the above, Appellants persist in arguing that, because the allegations against Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke are unsubstantiated, disclosing the specific requested records would be highly offensive to a reasonable person and thus violate Appellants' right to privacy. See Appellants Brief, at page 18. Moreover, Appellants seem to argue in favor

of such a broad reading of *Bellevue* that it would make <u>every record</u> pertaining to all unsubstantiated allegations subject to exemption from disclosure. In other words, Appellants seem to argue that an unsubstantiated allegation provides a blanket exemption for all records pertaining to the allegation regardless of what actual information might be contained within the record. Indeed, Appellants make expansive statements such as "Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke have a right to privacy ... in the requested records" and "[a] reasonable person would be highly offended by the disclosure of information related to and arising from the unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct against Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke." *See* Appellants Brief, at pages 17, 18.

The School District, of course, does not dispute that the separate allegations against Mr. Predisik and Mr. Katke are currently unsubstantiated. However, the Court will see upon *in camera* review of the administrative leave letter and spreadsheets that none of the records describe any allegations of misconduct whatsoever, let alone the type of sexual misconduct described in the letters at issue in the *Bellevue* case. While the administrative leave letter references a broad category of misconduct, the records do not describe sexual misconduct, or, for that matter, any other specific misconduct the disclosure of which would be anywhere nearly as offensive as that described by the *Bellevue* Court (i.e., sexual misconduct against a minor). Indeed, the

records do not even describe the type of unsubstantiated allegations the disclosure of which would be anywhere near as offensive as that described by the *Morgan* Court (i.e., "angry outbursts, inappropriate gender-based and sexual comments, and demeaning colleagues and employees"). Other than identifying that Appellants are on administrative leave pending completion of an investigation into "allegations", it cannot be deciphered from the records themselves what those specific allegations are.

In sum applying *Bellevue* and *Morgan* to the three records here, there is simply nothing in the records that describes allegations, which would be highly offensive to a reasonable person if disclosed. In particular, given the *Morgan* Court's mandate to disclose unsubstantiated allegations in that case, it would be and is extremely difficult for the School District to understand any basis for not producing these records.

Worth mentioning is that, when the Public Records Act discusses privacy rights, it does so in the context of whether information within a **certain record** would be highly offensive. RCW 42.56.050, which defines the "privacy" rights within the Public Records Act, makes clear that "The provisions of this chapter dealing with the right to privacy **in certain public records** do not create any right of privacy beyond those rights that are specified in this chapter as express exemptions from the public's right to inspect, examine, or copy **public records**." (Emphasis added). Throughout

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